04/22/2021

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 21-0050

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

NO. DA-21-0050

IN RE: THE PARENTING OF:

P.H.R. and P.H.R.

minor children,

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court, Missoula County, The Honorable Leslie Halligan, Presiding.

APPEARANCES

SCOTTI L. RAMBERG, Esq. 211 N Higgins Ste 401 Missoula, Montana 59802 Phone: (406) 329-1649

E-Mail: Scotti.Ramberg@mt.gov

Attorney for Mother & Appellant

LUCY HANSEN
Hansen Law Practice, PLLC
210 N. Higgins Ave., Ste. 234
Missoula, Montana 59802
Phone: (406) 203-3064
E-Mail:hansenlawpractice@gmail.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mother filed for divorce in 2010. A final hearing was held on July 31, 2014. The Texas Court issued a final divorce decree and parenting plan January 22, 2015. Between January 22, 2015 and September 5, 2019, Petitioner and Appellee ("Father") initiated many proceedings regarding the parenting plan in Texas. The Texas court declined jurisdiction and dismissed the matter on September 5, 2019. On December 20, 2019 Father filed a Petition for Registration of Child Custody Determination. December 30, 2019 Father a Notice of Filing Foreign Judgment and Notice. From that date, the parties had many competing motions beginning with a Motion for Order Requiring Respondent to Cooperate in Obtaining the Children's Passports or for an Order Designating Petitioner as the Sole Legal Custodian of the Parties' Minor Children for Passport Application, filed on February 4, 2020 and then again on February 11, 2020 with an accompanying Affidavit. Mother responded on February 21, 2020. Father filed a Reply brief on March 6, 2020.

On February 21, 2020 Father filed a Motion to Amend Parenting Plan and Brief in Support; an Affidavit of Petitioner/Father Marlen Russell in Support of Motion to Amend Parenting Plan; and a Proposed Amended Final Parenting Plan. On March 10, 2020, Father moved for Default Judgment. Due to complications with Counsel's schedule and her leaving the country, Counsel requested Mother

file her own *Objection to Default Judgment and Motion for Extension* with an accompanying affidavit with a Proposed Order, which she did on March 16, 2020.

Mother's attorney was teaching in South Africa in early 2020, and was unable to return to the United States as planned due to COVID restrictions. Thus, Mother filed her Motion to Amend Parenting Plan on May 6, 2020. The parties mediated on May 29, 2020 and signed a stipulation relating to summer break, passports, international travel, and parental communication.

Over the next three (3) months, the parties filed many contested pleadings. The court issued an order on August 11, 2020 setting a hearing for August 31, 2020 and denied the parties' motions. On August 24, 2020 Father filed a *Motion for Order Requiring Parties to Attend Mediation and Motion to Continue Hearing for One Month*, Mother objected to both mediation and a continuance the same day. The court issued an order on August 25, 2020 denying Father's request. Father subsequently filed his *Reply in Support of Petitioner's Motion for Order Requiring Parties to Attend Mediation and Motion to Continue Hearing for One Month*, on August 26, 2020. On August 27, 2020, Father filed another motion to continue the August 31, 2020 hearing. The court held a scheduling hearing on September 2, 2020 which resulted in a hearing being reset for Thursday September 10, 2020.

The Court held a hearing on September 10, 2020; interviewed the children in Chambers on October 5, 2020; and issued its order on December 31, 2020.

Mother appeals provisions fifteen (15) "Parental Communication with Child," twenty-one (21) "Parenting Mediation," and twenty-three (23) "Tax Exemptions/Deductions/Credits" of the Amended Parenting Plan issued and adopted contemporaneously with the Order on Petitioner's Motion to Amend Parenting Plan and the requirement of family counseling with current husband indicated under number (2) in the Order.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Did the District Court err when it ordered mother's husband to engage in family counseling?
- II. Did the District Court err when it modified the parties' parenting plan outside what was necessary to serve the best interest of the children?
- III. Did the District Court err when it ordered future conflicts be subject to mandatory mediation?
- IV. Did the District Court err when it awarded a dependency tax exemption to Father?

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mother's Statement of the Facts is limited to those facts specifically applicable to this appeal. The parties have two minor children, P.H.R. and P.H.R. ages fourteen (14) and ten (10) years old, respectively. (see Resp't's Aff. ¶ 3, Mar.16, 2020; see Resp to Pet. Mot. to Amend Parenting Plan, p. 2, Apr. 3, 2020; see Resp't's Aff. ¶ 3, Jun. 10, 2020). The parties were married for over ten (10) years. (see R. generally). The Texas court issued a final divorce decree and parenting plan January 22, 2015 wherein Mother was awarded sole managing conservatorship. (see Final Divorce Decree, p.3, ¶ 1, Jan. 22, 2015). The final order was well-founded on evidence of domestic violence by Father. (see Resp to Pet. Mot. to Amend Parenting Plan, p. 2, Apr. 3, 2020; see R. generally). Extensive testimony was presented by multiple professionals regarding the Father's abusive behaviors at the final hearing on July 31, 2014. (see R. generally). Since the Final Divorce Decree, Father has filed multiple parenting plan actions and pleadings before the courts. (see Resp't's Aff. ¶ 4 (a-k), Mar.16, 2020).

The parenting plan provided Father with substantial continuing parenting time and provided an alternative parenting plan taking a parent's possible relocation into account. (*see* Final Divorce Decree, pp. 6-10, Jan. 22, 2015). Prior to the District Court's order, the parties' parented pursuant the parties' Final Decree of Divorce dated May 22, 2015. (*see* Final Divorce Decree, p.6, ¶ 1(c), Jan.

22, 2015). Father parented the children for forty-two days each summer; every spring break (last year being an exception due to COVID-19); and alternated taking the children for Thanksgiving and Christmas break. (*see* Resp't's Aff. p.2, 3 ¶¶ 5-7, 10, Jun.10, 2020; Final Divorce Decree, pp. 6-10, Jan. 22, 2015).

Father's communication expectations were often invasive and unreasonable. (see Resp't's Aff. pp.1-2 \P 4, Jun.10, 2020). Father would call Mother's phone at 7:25 a.m. and 7:25 p.m. seven days per week. (see Resp't's Aff. p.5 ¶ 5, Mar. 16, 2020; see Resp't's Aff. pp.1-2 \P 4, Jun.10, 2020; see TRO Hr'g TR. 162:23-25, 163:1-13, Sept. 10, 2020). If Mother did not answer, Father would call again, leave multiple voicemails, and typically send multiple text messages as well. (see TRO Hr'g TR. 162:23-25, 163:1-13, Sept. 10, 2020; see R. generally). This behavior caused Mother a significant amount of stress. (see TRO Hr'g TR. 162:23-25, 163:1-13, Sept. 10, 2020; see R. generally). Mother requested that Father call at alternative times or that he call less frequently, but he refused. (see R. generally). Eventually, following mediation, the parties signed a stipulation that restricted the constant phone communication. (see Stip. Regarding Summer Parenting, Passports, and International Travel, ¶ 6 May 29, 2020).

Through Affidavits and testimony at the hearing on September 10, 2020 Mother testified regarding the lack of child support and what it has done to her financially. (see Resp't's Aff. p. 3 ¶ 12, Jun.10, 2020). Mother testified that she has

been forced to sell property to afford attorney fees and had went without child support since October of 2019. (*see* TRO Hr'g TR. 178:21-25, 179:1-6, Sept. 10, 2020). Mother has paid tens of thousands of dollars in attorney fees. (*see* TRO Hr'g TR. 178:21-25, 179:1-6, Sept. 10, 2020). The court issued no specific findings regarding taxes and only limited findings on child support. (*see* Order on Pet. Mot. to Amend Parenting Plan, p. 13, Dec. 31, 2020).

At the hearing, Mother testified that while married to Father she endured significant abuse. (*see* TRO Hr'g TR. 159:1-15, Sept. 10, 2020). Father held Mother at gun point, raped her, bit her, and physically prevented her from leaving. (*see* TRO Hr'g TR. 159:1-15, Sept. 10, 2020). Mother suffered constant harassment and intimidation from Father. (*see* R. generally). Through testimony, her filings, and affidavits, it is evident that Mother still fears the Father and there continue to be substantial issues with power and control. (*see* R. generally).

After a hearing and an in chambers interview with the children, the district court modified the parties' parenting plan. (see Order on Pet. Mot. to Amend Parenting Plan, Dec. 31, 2020; see Amended Parenting Plan, Dec. 31, 2020).

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

A court's determination as to its jurisdiction is a conclusion of law, which is reviewed de novo to determine whether the court's interpretation of the law is

correct. *Bunch v. Lancair Int'l, Inc.*, 2009 MT 29, ¶ 15, 349 Mont. 144, 202 P.3d 784 (citation omitted).

"A finding of fact is clearly erroneous if it is not supported by substantial evidence, if the court misapprehended the effect of the evidence or if, upon reviewing the record, this Court is left with the definite and firm conviction that the district court made a mistake." *In re S.T.*, 2008 MT 19, ¶ 8, 341 Mont. 176, 176 P.3d 1054 (citation omitted).

A district court's conclusions of law are reviewed de novo to determine whether they are correct. *Giambra v. Kelsey*, 2007 MT 158, ¶ 28, 338 Mont. 19, 162 P.3d 134 (citations omitted).

The Court reviews the underlying findings in support of a district's decision to modify a parenting plan under the clearly erroneous standard. *Guffin v. Plaisted-Harman*, 2010 MT 100, ¶ 20, 356 Mont. 218, 232 P.3d 888. If the underlying findings are not clearly erroneous, then the Court will overturn the district court only if there is a clear abuse of discretion. *In re D'Alton*, 2009 MT 184, ¶ 7, 351 Mont. 51, 209 P.3d 251.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court does not have jurisdiction over Mother's husband. He is not a party to this case and is not subject to the court's order. The District Court

states in its order that "The Court GRANTS Petitioner's Motion to Amend Parenting Plan in that some amendments to the current parenting plan are warranted, but the evidence presented does not support changes to the existing custodial provisions. Therefore, [Mother] will continue to serve as primary parent, and the schedule providing for the children to spend time with [Father] in Texas during summer and vacations shall remain in place. However, because this case is now under the Montana Court's jurisdiction, the Court shall issue an Amended Parenting Plan which conforms to Montana law and Practice." This is not supported by caselaw and is contrary to the full faith and credit clause found in Art. IV, § 1, of the U.S. Constitution. Because Mother does not disagree with all of the District Court's amendments, she argues some of the modifications were not in the children's best interest, were contrary to its own findings, that the District Court reasonably suspected domestic violence and therefore could not force the parties to mediate future issues with this parenting plan, and that modifying the child dependency exemptions was made with no basis in fact or in law, was not in the children's best interests, and is contrary to the Internal Revenue Code and the parties' Texas divorce decree.

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court erred when it ordered Mother's husband to engage in family counseling.

Courts can only exercise power over those under the court's jurisdiction. *Reed v. Woodmen of World*, 94 Mont. 374, 381, 22 P.2d 819, 821 (1933). Prior to issuing an order compelling action by a person, the court issuing such an order must have jurisdiction over the person. *Cardneaux v. Cardneaux*, 1998 MT 256, P1, 291 Mont. 230, 231, 967 P.2d 410, 410 (1998). Generally, this power is confined to the parties to an action and for a person to be made a party to an action either they must appear voluntarily before the court or there must be legal service of summons. *Deich v. Deich*, 136 Mont. 566, 577, 323 P.2d 35, 41 (1958); *Howard v. Dalio*, 249 Mont. 316, 319, 815 P.2d 1150, 1152 (1991). Absent these circumstances, the court does not have jurisdiction. *Id*.

Here, the District Court abused its discretion by ordering not just Mother to attend counseling but also ordering her new husband to do so. Mother's husband is not a party to the dissolution case; further, he did not voluntarily submit himself to the jurisdiction of the court and was not served a summons. Therefore, Mother's husband is not within the scope of the District Court's jurisdiction in this matter, so any order the District Court makes regarding him is not enforceable. The District Court was aware of this fact but attempted to make an end run around this jurisdictional issue by directing its order at Mother by requiring her "and her husband" to attend counseling together.

Aside from the jurisdictional issues, requiring Mother's husband to attend counseling raises concerns regarding the enforcement of the order. Is Mother in contempt if her new husband—who is not a party in the case—fails to comply? The District Court only had jurisdiction over Mother. Presumably, the court could only attempt to enforce its order against Mother but to do so would be fundamentally unfair. Mother has no authority to force her new husband to cooperate with the court's order, all she can do is ask, but he can of course refuse. Further, section 9(f) of the amended parenting plan provides the court with the same result without specifically ordering the stepfather to engage in family counseling. Because of this lack of jurisdiction, the District Court's order should be reversed.

II. The District Court erred when it modified the parenting plan outside of amendments necessary for the best interests of the children.

As outlined in the District Court's order, Montana law generally makes parenting plans difficult to change once they are set in place. § 40-4-219, MCA, governs amendments to existing plans, and it lays out specific conditions under which a court has authority to revise a parenting plan. As applicable here, the statute provides:

"The court may in its discretion amend a prior parenting plan if it finds, upon the basis of facts that have arisen since the prior plan or that were unknown to the court at the time of entry of the prior plan, that a change has occurred in the circumstances of the child and that the amendment is necessary to serve the best interest of the child." (emphasis added). Id.

Section 15, Parental Communication with Child, provides that "The non-parenting parent shall have the opportunity to Skype, FaceTime, or call the children regularly." However, the Court found that "[Fathers] communication expectations are, for the most part, unreasonable given the children and [Mother's] schedules" and that "[Mother] has reasonably accommodated [Fathers] requests" (see Order on Petitioner's Motion to Amend Parenting Plan, p. 14). Further, the parties mediated and entered into a Stipulation on May 29, 2020. The sixth provision in the Stipulation provides the following:

"Father shall call P.R. (daughter) on her cell phone rather than through Mother's phone. Father shall be entitled to phone calls with P.R. (son) through Mother's phone on Monday, Wednesday, and Friday at 7:25 p.m. and shall cease calling Mother's phone at other times." (see Stipulation Regarding Summer Parenting, Passports, and International Travel, dated May 29, 2020).

To modify this agreement is contrary to the court's findings and is not in the best interests of the children. Therefore, it should be reversed and remanded.

III. The District Court erred in requiring continued mediation between the parties because Father has a long history of documented domestic violence against Mother.

Absent consent from all parties, courts may not require mediation in family law cases in which domestic violence is reasonably suspected. *Hendershott v. Westphal*, 2011 MT 73, 21, 360 Mont. 66, 253 P.3d 806

Here, there is a long history of domestic violence that is clear within the record. Mother was afraid to mediate with Father, and feared Father's actions, during the pendency of these proceedings. Mother's attorney strongly encouraged her to participate, and she did so, believing that over zoom, she would be protected from Father. As held by the District Court, the parties' first mediation only provided limited short-term success.

As stated in the District Court's order from March 24, 2020 the court encouraged Mother to accept Father's offer to mediate amendments. However, because the parties have a history of domestic abuse, Mother was not required to mediate. In the present case there are still significant power and control issues, even in the co-parenting relationship. The District Court held that "the Court also has some concerns with abuse at the hands of [Father] given [Mother's] accusations of [Father's] physical, verbal, and mental abuse against [Mother] and his threats to her upon their divorce..." The District Court indicated the evidence was not conclusive, but under the holding in *Hendershott*, the evidence does not

need to be conclusive. The Court only needs to "reasonably suspect" domestic violence (emphasis added) Id.

Given the extensive testimony given by Mother at both the divorce proceedings in the Texas and at the hearing held on September 10, 2021, regarding the abuse she endured, it was clearly erroneous to order the parties to mediate. Mother testified that she continues to feel threatened, harassed, and bullied. Mother feels intimidated and gets anxious, as well as has panic attacks at the mere thought of having to be in the same room with Father in this case, now and/or in the future. Mother's mental anguish is something no one should endure. Therefore, the District Court erred when it determined the parties must mediate future conflicts and therefore, it should be reversed and remanded to the court for an order consistent with its findings.

IV. The District Court erred when it awarded a dependency tax exemption to Father.

Because there is little caselaw on this issue, Appellant looks to the Administrative Rules of Montana, § 42.15.403, Exemptions for Dependents, which states "(1) Except as provided in (2), a taxpayer is allowed a dependent exemption for each dependent who receives over half of his or her total support from the taxpayer. This support test must be implemented like the support test in Internal Revenue Code § 152(d)(1)(C), (IRC), and all related U.S. Treasury Department regulations about qualifying relatives. These regulations support an allowance to

the primary parent based on who the qualifying relatives (the children in this case) live with the majority of the year." *Id.*.

Under ARM § 42.15.403(2) a dependent exemption is not allowed for an individual described in (1) if the individual has gross income of more than the exemption amount allowed under § 15-30-2114, MCA (not applicable in the present case), unless the individual is the taxpayer's "qualifying child," as defined in IRC § 152, and meets the support test for "qualifying child" under IRC § 152(c)(1)(D), which is discussed under federal taxes.

Pursuant ARM § 42.15.401 (1) ""Child" means a son, stepson, daughter, stepdaughter, or legally adopted son or daughter of the taxpayer. The term does not include the following persons who are within the definition of "child" for purposes of determining dependent exemptions for federal income tax purposes:

• • •

(c) A federal dependent exemption may be claimed for a person under a multiple support agreement exception even if the taxpayer does not provide over half of their total support. Because Montana does not provide a multiple support agreement exception, a dependent exemption is not allowed for any person who does not receive over half of their total support from the taxpayer. See the definition of "support," however, for special rules for determining the support of a child of divorced or separated parents. (*emphasis added*) *Id*.

. . .

(4) "Support" has the same meaning as "support" for purposes of determining dependent exemptions for federal income tax purposes except as follows:

(b) If a decree of divorce or legal separation, or a binding written agreement between legally separated spouses or divorced former spouses, provides that the taxpayer may claim, and the other parent will not claim, a dependent exemption for a child for state income tax purposes, the taxpayer is treated as having provided over half of the child's support for Montana income tax purposes. If the taxpayer entitled to claim a dependent exemption under this rule is remarried, the taxpayer may claim the exemption on a joint return or, as provided in (4)(a), the taxpayer or taxpayer's spouse may claim the exemption." *Id*.

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