Case Number: DA 21-0050

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA NO. DA-21-0050

IN RE PARENTING OF: /

P.H.R. and P.H.R.,

Minor Children.

SARAH WILMON,

Respondent and Appellant,

V.

MARLEN DELANO RUSSELL,

Petitioner and Appellee

APPELLEE'S RESPONSE BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court, Missoula County, the Honorable Leslie Halligan, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

SCOTTI L. RAMBERG Office of State Public Defender 211 N. Higgins Ave., Ste. 401 Missoula, Montana 59802 Scotti.Ramberg@mt.gov LUCY HANSEN
Hansen Law Practice, PLLC
210 N. Higgins Ave., Ste. 234
Missoula, Montana 59802
hansenlawpractice@gmail.com,
hansenlawpractice1@gmail.com

Attorney for Appellant

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

Montana Code Annotated §40-4-234 allows District Court to take any actions to protect a child's wellbeing and safety. This provision addresses the criteria of a final parenting plan, and provides in pertinent part,

- (1) In every dissolution proceeding, proceeding for declaration of invalidity of marriage, parenting plan proceeding, or legal separation proceeding that involves a child, each parent or both parents jointly shall submit to the court, in good faith, a proposed final plan for parenting the child, which may include the allocation of parenting functions. A final parenting plan must be incorporated into any final decree or amended decree, including cases of dissolution by default. As used in this section, parenting functions means those aspects of the parent-child relationship in which the parent makes decisions and performs functions necessary for the care and growth of the child, which may include:
- (a) maintaining a loving, stable, consistent, and nurturing relationship with the child;
- (b) attending to the daily needs of the child, such as feeding, physical care, development, and grooming, supervision, spiritual growth and development, health care, day care, and engaging in other activities that are appropriate to the developmental level of the child and that are within the social and economic circumstances of the particular family;
- (c) attending to adequate education for the child, including remedial or other education essential to the best interest of the child;
- (d) ensuring the interactions and interrelationship of the child with the child's parents and siblings and with any other person who significantly affects the child's best interest; and
- (e) exercising appropriate judgment regarding the child's welfare, consistent with the child's developmental level and the family's social and economic circumstances.
- (2) Based on the best interest of the child, a final parenting plan may include, at a minimum, provisions for:
- (a) designation of a parent as custodian of the child, solely for the purposes of all other state and federal statutes that require a designation or determination of custody, but the designation may not affect either parent's rights and responsibilities under the parenting plan;
- (b) designation of the legal residence of both parents and the child, except as provided in 40-4-217;

- (c) a residential schedule specifying the periods of time during which the child will reside with each parent, including provisions for holidays, birthdays of family members, vacations, and other special occasions;
- (d) finances to provide for the child's needs;
- (e) any other factors affecting the physical and emotional health and well-being of the child;
- (f) periodic review of the parenting plan when requested by either parent or the child or when circumstances arise that are foreseen by the parents as triggering a need for review, such as attainment by the child of a certain age or if a change in the child's residence is necessitated;
- (g) sanctions that will apply if a parent fails to follow the terms of the parenting plan, including contempt of court;
- (h) allocation of parental decision making authority regarding the child's:
- (i) education;
- (ii) spiritual development; and
- (iii) health care and physical growth;
- (i) the method by which future disputes concerning the child will be resolved between the parents, other than court action; and
- (j) the unique circumstances of the child or the family situation that the parents agree will facilitate a meaningful, ongoing relationship between the child and parents.
- (4) The court may in its discretion order the parties to participate in a dispute resolution process to assist in resolving any conflicts between the parties regarding adoption of the parenting plan. The dispute resolution process may include counseling or mediation by a specified person or agency or court action.

Emphasis supplied. In this matter, evidence presented established that Appellant's husband, the children's step-father, is a menacing figure in the children's lives. In this case, the Appellant admitted that her husband, the children's step-father has yelled at the children. Tr. at 151, ll. 2-3. Appellant also

admitted, after first denying physical abuse, that her husband, the children's step-father has spanked the younger child, and Appellant could not tell the Court why Mr. Willmon had physically disciplined the child, despite her being present for the abuse. Tr. at 151, 11. 4-12.

The District Court clearly had the ability to order the Appellant to participate in family counseling with her husband, a member of her household, who was found to have inappropriately disciplined both children. This particular order was set forth to address the children's physical and emotional health and wellbeing, as allowed under subsection 2(e). Clearly, the District Court having heard all of the evidence, had the discretion to order the Appellant to initiate and complete family counseling to address her husband's physical abuse/discipline of the children. The District Court is authorized specifically under Mont. Code Ann. §40-4-234 to take any necessary action to protect children. The fact that Appellant would appeal this portion of the order speaks volumes to the instability of her household as well as her refusal to protect her children and co-parent effectively. Should the Appellant be unable to abate the clear danger her current husband poses to the children, it is not in the children's best interests to remain in her custody. The District Court was well within its right to request a reasonable measure such as family counseling, to ensure the safety and wellbeing of the children.

Case law firmly establishes that: "this Court will not overturn the district court's findings unless they are clearly erroneous. Rule 52(a), M.R.Civ.P. In custody modification cases, it is particularly important for this Court to defer to the district court which personally evaluated the testimony." *In Re the Marriage of Ulland*, 251 Mont. 160, 823 P.2d 864, 870 (1992) citing *In Re the Marriage of Anderson*, 240 Mont 316, 320, 783 P.2d 1372, 1374-1375 (1989).

Furthermore, when the parties offer conflicting testimony, this Court has held: "resolving conflicts in testimony is the trier of fact's function." *Id.* Citing *In re: Marriage of Mitchell,* 48 St. Rep. at 354, 809 P.2d at 584. The standard in these appeals is as follows: "we will not substitute our judgment for that of the district court, unless the appellant shows an abuse of discretion." *Id.*

In this matter, the District Court reviewed significant briefs, and conducted a lengthy contested hearing, with regard to the issues brought up on appeal. None of the decisions made by the Court could be construed as having been clearly erroneous nor an abuse of Judge Halligan's discretion. Appellant's claims to the contrary are inconceivable. Appellant has failed to provide a single example of any clearly erroneous findings, nor any abuse of discretion in the District Court's Order.

II. The District Court Did Not Err when it Modified the Parenting Plan. While Marlen Does Not Agree with the Ultimate Decision, He is Not Appealing the Decision and therefore, the Amendments on Appeal, were Made in the Children's Best Interests.

y = f(y)

This appeal is suspect and confusing. It is rare for the prevailing party to be the appealing party. Appellant states in her brief: "because Mother does not disagree with all of the District Court's amendments, she argues some of the modifications were not in the children's best interests." App. Br. p. 13. A majority of the Court's determinations were clearly in the Mother's favor, primarily the finding that Mother should continue to serve as the primary residential parent. The Mother seems to be doing one of two things with this appeal. One, she is attempting to cause delay so that Marlen's persistent requests for a child support modification can continue to be stalled. Two, she is cherry picking minor details she is unhappy with in order to address her own needs and interests, rather than the children's needs and interests. Appellant's argument that the District Court's communication provision is improper, is short cited and not based upon the best interests of the children. During the evidentiary hearing, testimony was provided regarding Marlen's difficulty in communicating with his children. The District Court also met with both children in chambers, and the parties are not privy to the Court's conversation with the children. It was reasonable, however, for the District Court to determine that providing Marlen with a telephone call schedule is in the best interests of the children. Appellant

criticizes the District Court and demands that the District Court's order for Marlen to have regular communications with his children should be "reversed and remanded."

This particular portion of the appeal, highlights the vindictive nature of the Appellant, as well as Appellant Counsel's obvious desire to waste the Court's time and resources, while also causing obvious delay in a child support modification proceeding. This argument is a prime example of why Appellant's appeal should fail and why Appellant should be ordered to pay Marlen's attorney fees in being forced to defend himself, as the losing party to an appeal. How could any parent argue that the other parent should not be entitled to regular telephone contact with the children? Mont. Code Ann. §40-4-212 addresses the best interests of children and the factors a District Court may rely upon in entering a Final Parenting Plan. That statute provides in pertinent part:

- (1) The court shall determine the parenting plan in accordance with the best interest of the child. The court shall consider all relevant parenting factors, which may include but are not limited to:
- (a) the wishes of the child's parent or parents;
- (b) the wishes of the child;
- (c) the interaction and interrelationship of the child with the child's parent or parents and siblings and with any other person who significantly affects the child's best interest;
- (d) the child's adjustment to home, school, and community;

- (e) the mental and physical health of all individuals involved;
- (f) physical abuse or threat of physical abuse by one parent against the other parent or the child;
- (g) chemical dependency, as defined in **53-24-103**, or chemical abuse on the part of either parent;
- (h) continuity and stability of care;

4.4

- (i) developmental needs of the child;
- (j) whether a parent has knowingly failed to pay birth-related costs that the parent is able to pay, which is considered to be not in the child's best interests;
- (k) whether a parent has knowingly failed to financially support a child that the parent is able to support, which is considered to be not in the child's best interests;
- (1) whether the child has frequent and continuing contact with both parents, which is considered to be in the child's best interests unless the court determines, after a hearing, that contact with a parent would be detrimental evidence of physical abuse or threat of physical abuse by one parent against the other parent or the child, including but not limited to whether a parent or other person residing in that parent's household has been convicted of any of the crimes enumerated in 40-4-219(8)(b).

(Emphasis supplied). In this case, Marlen's relationship with his children is important. The children need their father, and pursuant to statute, it is considered to be in the children's best interests to have frequent and continuing contact with Marlen.

As previously established, the District Court has discretion to determine a final parenting plan in accordance with Mont. Code Ann. §40-4-234. In ordering a final parenting plan, the District Court is required to analyze the children's best interests, pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. §40-4-212. In this case, the District Court

held an evidentiary hearing. Based upon the evidence presented, as well as the record, the District Court entered an order almost entirely in favor of Appellant, save for the limited issues brought on appeal.

This Court has held that: "modification of physical custody within a joint custody arrangement is proper when the change is in the best interests of the child." This certainly includes modifying communication provisions so that the Court can ensue frequent and continuing contact between the father and the children. Marriage of Ulland, 251 Mont. 160, ____ 823 P.2d 864, 868 (1992). The Court further held: "this Court will not overturn the district court's findings unless they are clearly erroneous, Rule 52(a) M.R.Civ.P. In custody modification cases, it is particularly important for this Court to defer to the district court which personally evaluated the testimony. Id at 869 (citing In Re: Marriage of Anderson, 240 Mont. 316, 320, 783 P2d 1372, 1374-1375 (1989). There is nothing in the record that would suggest the District Court committed clear error when it ordered a schedule and provisions to ensure the father could talk with his children via phone.

III. The District Court Did Not Err in Requiring Mediation between the Parties. Appellant Voluntarily Participated in Mediation in 2020 and did not Establish Domestic Violence Exists in the Present Matter.

In Hendershott v. Westphal, the Court addressed the mediation statute found

at Mont. Code Ann. §40-4-301, and held:

., .

Section 40-4-301(1), MCA, grants a district court the discretion to require parties to participate in mediation of a family law proceeding:

The district court may at any time consider the advisability of requiring the parties to a proceeding under this chapter to participate in the mediation of the case. Any party may request the court to order mediation. If the parties agree to mediation, the court may require the attendance of the parties or the representatives of the parties with authority to settle the case at the mediation sessions.

Heidi first argues that this section allows the court to order mediation only where both parties consent. We disagree. The first sentence of the statute plainly gives the court authority to *require* mediation. In the alternative, a party may *request* mediation or both parties may *agree* to mediation. In the event mediation Occurs by agreement of the parties, the court nonetheless may *require* attendance of certain persons at the mediation. Subsection (1) does not limit the court's ability to order mediation. Because we find the statute to be plain, unambiguous, direct and certain, the statute speaks for itself and there is no need to resort to extrinsic means of interpretation. *Christian*, ¶ 12.

360 Mont. 66, 72, 253 P.3d 806 (2011). In addition, the statute addressing final parenting plan criteria also addresses the District Court's inherent ability to address and order mediation prior to initiating the court process. Mont. Code Ann. 40-4-234(4) provides:

The court may in its discretion order the parties to participate in a dispute resolution process to assist in resolving any conflicts between the parties regarding adoption of the parenting plan. The dispute resolution process may include counseling or mediation by a specified person or agency or court action.

Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-301 allows a District Court to order parties to participate in mediation. Subsection (2) makes an exception to court-ordered mediation as follows:

The Court may not authorize or permit continuation of mediated negotiations if the court has reason to suspect that one of the parties or a child of a party has been physically, sexually, or emotionally abused by the other party.

This subsection's plain language prohibits court-ordered mediation where there is a reason to suspect abuse.

Hendershott v. Westphal, 360 Mont. 66, 71-72 (Mont. 2011). The Court in Hendershott reconciled the differing provisions set forth in 40-4-234 and 40-4-301 by holding:

By allowing a court discretion to include a mediation provision in a parenting plan, the Legislature merely encouraged practitioners and courts to consider alternative dispute resolution for future conflicts. The discretionary language of § 40-4-234, MCA, as well as the legislative history, make clear the Legislature did not seek to override the exception in § 40-4-301(2), MCA, to mediation of parenting conflicts in instances of abuse. We therefore conclude that § 40-4-234(4), MCA, and § 40-4-301(2), MCA, are not in conflict. Instead, both provisions afford court discretion in ordering mediation, unless there is reason to suspect emotional, physical, or sexual abuse in the relationship.

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